

Labour exploitation in the Chinese garment industry despite the human rights regime: An examination of overtime in the Chinese garment industry since 1978

van Oss, Anouk-ChunLi

Citation

Van Oss, A. -C. L. (2022). Labour exploitation in the Chinese garment industry despite the human rights regime: An examination of overtime in the Chinese garment industry since 1978.

Version: Not Applicable (or Unknown)

License: License to inclusion and publication of a Bachelor or Master thesis in

the Leiden University Student Repository

Downloaded from: https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3454109

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).



MAIR Thesis

Labour exploitation in the Chinese garment industry despite the human rights regime

An examination of overtime in the Chinese garment industry since 1978



Name: Anouk-ChunLi van Oss - 2943778

Master: International Relations - Global Conflict in the Modern Era

Semester: 2

Supervisor: Dr. S.S. Regilme Date: June 6, 2022

Wordcount: 14783





Declaration of originality

By submitting this assignment, I certify that:

- √ this work has been drafted by me without any assistance from others (not applicable to group work);
- √ I have not copied submitted work from other students
- √ I have not used sources that are not allowed by the course instructors, and I have clearly
 referenced all sources (either from a printed source, internet or any other source) used in
 the work in accordance with the course requirements and the indications of the course
 instructors:
- √ this work has not been previously used for other courses in the programme or for course
 of another programme or university unless explicitly allowed by the course instructors.

I understand that any false claim in respect to this work will result in disciplinary action in accordance with university regulations and the programme regulations, and that any false claim will be reported to the Board of Examiners. Disciplinary measures can result in exclusion from the course and/or the programme.

I understand that my work may be checked for plagiarism, by the use of plagiarism detection software as well as through other measures taken by the university to prevent and check on fraud and plagiarism.

I understand and endorse the significance of the prevention of fraud and I acknowledge that in case of (gross) fraud the Board of Examiners could declare the examination invalid, which may have consequences for all students.

Name: Anouk-ChunLi van Oss

Date: June 6, 2022

Leiden University's Regulations on Plagiarism:

https://www.organisaticgids.universiteitleiden.nl/bingries/content/assets/ul2staff/reglementen/onderwijs/regeling-plagiaat-eng.pdf

Contents

Introduction	4
Literature review	7
Human rights	7
The garment industry	9
China vis-à-vis human rights and labour rights	12
Conclusion	13
Theory and Methods	14
Theory	15
Method	16
Transnational factors that generate overtime	18
The free market	18
CSR	20
Brands' purchasing practices	21
Domestic factors that generate overtime	23
Human rights with Chinese characteristics	23
Conclusion	29
References	

Introduction

On the 24th of April 2013, the world faced one of the most tragic accidents the fashion industry has ever known (Zha, 2018). On the outskirts of Dhaka, Bangladesh, the eight-story high building called Rana Plaza collapsed (Jacobs & Singhal, 2017). It took the lives of over 1132 workers and injured more than 2500 workers (ILO, 2022). These casualties would not have occurred if the garment workers had not been sent back to work after the discovery of large structural cracks the day before the disaster. Unlike the garment factories, the shops and bank that were also housed in Rana Plaza immediately closed after the discovery of the cracks (Clean Clothes Campaign, n. d.). Nevertheless, the factory owners evidently did not perceive this is as enough reason to close their venues. Instead, the production of garments for several well-known Western fashion brands like Benneton, Mango and Primark was prioritised with devastating consequences (Wolf, 2018). Ever since this tragedy, the spotlight has been set on poor labour conditions in the garment industry.

The fashion industry is the fourth biggest sector in the world and comprises high-fashion brands to fast-fashion brands, retailers, photographers and numerous other stakeholders (Library of Congress, n.d.; United States Fashion Industry Association, 2021; Vilaça, 2021). Part of it is the global garment manufacturing industry, the sixth biggest employer in the world (IBISWorld, 2021). Nearly every state, regardless of its stage of development is involved, be it trading or production. Current developed states in, for example, the West, used to have a garment or textile industry in the past but when in the 1950s workers organised themselves in trade unions, wages increased causing higher production costs. Retailers commenced searching for places with lower production costs and found inter alia the People's Republic of China (hereafter called 'China') where there was an abundance of cheap and skilled labour (Chowdhury, Ahmed & Yasmin, 2014; Morshed, 2007; Wang, 2013).

Whereas China used to focus on itself during Mao Zedong's rule from 1949 until 1976, in the late 1970s neoliberal regulation took place which has been accelerating since 1992 (Chan, 2014; Columbia University, 1995; Wang, 2013). For instance, in 1979, China opened some coastal pockets to attract foreign direct investment called Special Economic Zones which attracted the garment industry (Ge, 1999; Wang, 2013). Sweatshops, where employees work long hours for low wages in unsafe working conditions, mushroomed (Miklós, 2019). They are seen as key drivers of the race to the bottom regarding labour standards (Chan, 2014). This concept entails the worsening of working conditions due to increasing pressure on (garment) factories' owners and workers. The growing demand for continuous new commodities calls for more and faster labour while competition drives the prices down. This results in factories producing as much as possible output for the cheapest prices possible. Accordingly, this endangers working conditions of workers because factory owners occasionally feel compelled to lower working standards like paying lower wages, having workers make overtime and

sometimes even forcing them to work to keep up with the rest and stay in business. Nonetheless, the sweatshops and race-to-the-bottom have strongly supported China's rapid economic growth and high rate of employment (Chan, 2014). Hence, the garment industry has become one of the backbone industries of the state despite having fierce competition from other states in Southeast Asia (Wang, 2013). Just in China in 2017, it employed over ten million workers (Chen, Perry, Yang & Yang, 2017).

In July 2021, the World Trade Organization (2021) showed that with an export value of 154 billion US Dollars in 2020 China was the world's leading exporter of garments (Statista, 2021). This accounted for 31.6 percent of the global garment export value (Ma, 2021a). On top of that, it also deserves the title of largest garment manufacturer. Both these leading roles have been subscribed to China for over a decade (Ma, 2021b).

Despite this exceptional reputation, labour exploitation lurks. When compared to other states in the region, China has progressive labour laws that provide job security, set minimum wages and limit overtime. Nevertheless, the government refrains from admitting to enabling rights like the right to strike, which helps workers really change their working conditions (Narayanasamy & Benjamin, 2016).

On top of that, not long ago increasing global attention has been pointed to what China calls 'vocational education' camps in the north-western Xinjiang region where, since 2017, over a million Uyghurs and other Muslim minorities are taught about the Communist party rhetoric and Mandarin Chinese (Hornby, 2019; Xu, Cave, Leibold, Munro & Ruser, 2020). Others define these camps as internment or even detention camps as detainees are captivated under conditions that violate human rights. There is widely considered that forced labour takes place, especially in the textile- and cotton industry (Finnegan, 2020; Kelly 2020). Also, detainees are sent to other workplaces in China to perform forced labour (United States Department of State, 2021).

Another example of labour exploitation in the Chinese garment industry is that there is a high risk for overtime by workers that is not always properly paid for (Kane, 2015). For instance, NGO Verité (2012) routinely stumbles upon factory work schedules that exceed the working times under national law. For example, a workweek of 60 hours per week is rather a rule than the exception even though it is prohibited. On the same note, during peak season, a seven-day working week is becoming the norm (Labour Behind the Label, 2017). Likewise, Ngai's study (2005) shows that in two garment factories in the Yangtze River region and province of Guangdong excessive overtime was a common practice. The same goes for China's footwear and sporting apparel industry (Smyth, Qian, Nielsen & Kaempfer, 2013).

There are sets of globally accepted and therefore institutionalised and implemented international labour rights and norms that aim to protect workers from such exploitation like conventions of the International Labor Organization (ILO), the Organisation for Economic Co-operation

and Development (OECD) Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGPs). These will be elaborated on in the literature review. According to the human rights regime, even though China has not ratified several ILO (core) conventions, as a major economic power it has responsibilities to states it exports to. It still has the responsibility to create an environment that guarantees safe and just labour conditions in which workers do not have to suffer. Nevertheless, despite these concerns, labour exploitation like overtime persists today as has become evident from the above-mentioned examples. The question remains why. As such, this thesis will attempt to answer the following main research question:

Why does labour exploitation in the Chinese garment industry persist despite the international human rights regime?

An examination of overtime in the Chinese garment industry since 1978

To answer this question, I firstly elaborate on the significance of the research and highlight its intended engagement concerning our state of knowledge about the garment industry vis-a-vis human rights in the literature review. Hereafter, I will go into detail about the theory and method that are used for this research. After having set the basis for the analysis, I will bring forward China's position regarding the human rights regime while specifying it to its garment industry. Therefore, I will analyse how transnational and domestic factors interact and how they generate overtime. Lastly, I will answer the main research question in the conclusion.

Literature review

By analysing the state of knowledge about human rights, labour rights, Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) and roles of states regarding safeguarding labour rights, this literature review discusses China's understanding of human rights which differs from that of the West. China emphasises economic human rights like the rights to subsistence and development and is critical of the current, Western perception of human rights' universality. Nevertheless, research that takes overtime in the Chinese garment industry as a focal point and examines this by focussing on transnational and domestic factors that generate it and relates this to the human rights regime has not been conducted before. That is where this thesis steps in.

Human rights

The aftermath of World War II and the end of the Cold War, accompanied by for instance the consolidation of the global economy and the strengthening of transnational advocacy networks, had an important role regarding the architecture of the human rights regime we know now (Mantilla, 2009). In the West, human rights are defined as follows: "human rights are norms that aspire to protect all people everywhere from severe political, legal, and social abuses." (Nickel, 2014) On their duty bearers and addressees, they impose duties or responsibilities. Moreover, they are universal, inalienable, equally applicable to everyone, have high priority and are plural as they address various specific problems. They also recognise everyone is born free and equal in rights and dignity (Nickel, 2014). Human rights are found in international treaties, national constitutions, regional declarations and many other sources of international law (Regilme, 2020). Essential to the understanding of human rights is the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) by the United Nations (UN) in 1948 (Nickel, 2014; United Nations, n.d.). It was drafted by representatives with different cultural and legal backgrounds from both the global North and the global South. Furthermore, it has inspired and paved the way for a rich body of international human rights treaties that are adopted and legally binding.

Labour rights

I will focus on international regulations regarding human rights and business to regulate labour conditions. At first, most regulations were of voluntary nature and were non-binding. One example is the in 2017 revised ILO Tripartite Declaration on Principles Concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy of 1977. It offers guidelines to encourage the positive impact multinational enterprises can make on social and economic progress to multinational enterprises, governments and workers'-and employers' organisations (Deitelhoff & Wolf, 2013; ILO, 2017a). Another example is the in 2011 revised Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Guidelines for Multinational

Enterprises of 1976. Reflected in its revisions are principles of ILO's Tripartite Declaration on Principles Concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (Diller, 2002). With applicable laws and standards that are recognised internationally, the guidelines provide non-binding standards and principles for responsible business conduct in a global context (OECD, 2011). Although widely accepted by governments and organisations like the Dutch Agreement on Sustainable Garments and Textiles (n.d.) and the German Partnership for Sustainable Textiles (2022), the domestic implementation of the guidelines could be criticised because of their unenforceable nature. It causes disparity regarding the commitment to implement them among the governments that endorse them (Černič, 2008).

Moreover, from 2005 until 2011 J. G. Ruggie became special representative to the UN "on human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises" (OHCHR, 2021). He identified the Protect, Respect and Remedy framework in 2008 which led to the establishment of the Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGPs) in 2011. It was the first adoption ever by the UN of a set of standards about business and human rights. In addition, it was the only time a normative text was endorsed that was not negotiated by governments themselves. The UNGPs' focus is on the need to manage risks of companies' conduct. Therefore, it requires companies to act with due diligence. The latter comprises the assessment of "actual and potential human rights impacts, integrating and acting upon the findings, tracking the effectiveness of these responses, and communicating how impacts are addressed. Such impacts may occur because of an enterprise's own activities, or they may be linked to its operations, products or services by business relationships up and down the value chain." (Ruggie, Caroline & Davis, 2021, p.186).

Discussion

The legitimacy of international human rights depends strongly on the consent of states (Karlsson Schaffer, 2013). This is mostly the case in the West, where the indivisibility and interdependence of international human rights are most forcefully endorsed, consistent and have received effective implementation (Whelan & Donnelly, 2007). Yet, a prominent debate about human rights is their universality. One set of studies perceives human rights to be universal and inalienable because they have been institutionalised by states from all over the world, not just by Western states (Bhambra, 2007; Brotton, 2003; Cousin, 2011; Waltz, 2002). However, the application of human rights is being rejected in the name of sovereignty, the world's fundamental organising principle (Hopgood, 2014). Some leaders of Asian states argue that the implementation of those rights can differ because of local contexts (Ahdanisa & Rothman, 2021). For instance, Asian states often put emphasis on community over the individual and perceive human rights to infringe their sovereignty (Munro, 211). Therefore, the legalisation of human rights ought to take place domestically and human rights norms must match domestic human rights if they are to be regarded as human rights. Accordingly, human rights are not

universal (Besson, 2013). They could be considered 'Western' and some scholars even go further and perceive human rights as modern Western imperialism (Dembour, 2010; Karan, 2004; Pollis & Schwab, 1978). They constrain domestic affairs of all states, from authoritarian ones to democratic, self-ruled welfare states (Karlsson Schaffer, Follesdal & Ulfstein, 2013).

Furthermore, there is debate about the human rights regime and its impact on human rights practices. States only comply in case it is in their national interest to for example legitimise themselves on domestic and/or international levels (Regilme, 2014). States complying with the human rights regime is rather a coincidence than a conscious effort. In addition, global human rights treaties lack institutional mechanisms to monitor and enforce regime norms which provide governments with the opportunity to ratify treaties for window dressing. It gives governments human rights legitimacy which makes pressure for further action from others difficult. The lack of the regime's enforcement and decreased external pressure incite governments into a spiral of worse repression after ratification which the regime fails to stop. This can be identified as a "paradox of empty promises". States make formal legal commitments to symbolise their compliance to human rights while they violate them. Therefore, the human rights regime and the ratification of treaties rather has a negative relationship with actual human rights practices (Hafner-Burton & Tsutsui, 2005). Advocates of the human rights regime overlook this paradox of empty promises and perceive it as integral to the exercise of a government that is legitimate (Hopgood, 2014).

Furthermore, liberal international relations scholars state that the regime can have positive impact on actual human rights practices yet acknowledge the possibility of window dressing (Regilme, 2014). Constructivists argue states try to comply with the human rights regime because their own interests are defined by internationally held norms and values. Nevertheless, even though the average state has created more acceptance for international human rights law by ratifying treaties, the reported percentage of states that repress human rights has increased over time. As such, the effect of the human rights regime on actual human rights practices is small (Hafner-Burton & Tsutsui, 2005). Therefore, nongovernmental actors like civil society are crucial. They can improve states' human rights practices on the ground. Civil society can serve as enforcement mechanisms by publicly blaming and shaming states in case of human rights violations and socialise states to agree on new norms and values to push governments toward compliance (Deitelhoff & Wolf, 2013).

The garment industry

Now that the literature regarding the human rights regime has been elaborated on, I will focus on the literature regarding the garment industry. Whereas some studies focus on productivity (Asuyama, Chhun, Fukunishi, Neou & Yamagata, 2013; Colovic, 2014; Fan, 2021; Mahbub, Garshasbi, Kabir & Hasin, 2021; Sukwadi, Wee & Yang, 2013) or the development of the garment industry in various

regions (Azmeh & Nadvi, 2013; Chand, 2012; Knutsen, 2004; Passakonjaras, 2012), most studies about the garment industry are about labour conditions. Accordingly, nearly all research conducted about labour conditions in the garment industry takes the tragic collapse of Rana Plaza as a starting point. One set of studies develops an analysis of the Bangladeshi fashion industry. They examine how the tragedy could have happened, its impact and how it relates to the broader fashion industry (Brown, 2016; Chowdhury, Ahmed & Yasmin, 2014; Hemphill & White, 2018; Jacobs & Singhal, 2017; Miller, 2009; Taplin, 2014).

The main reason for labour rights violations in the garment industry is often accredited to business. Locke (2013) identifies that the response of global brands to a business environment that is characterised by shorter product life cycles, dynamic consumer demand and concentrated retail channels, comprises the reorganisation of their supply chains to optimise efficiency and minimise reputational and financial risks. This often happens through outsourcing production by exploiting low wages and weak social and environmental regulations of developing countries. While this enabled brands to quicker introduce new products, offer a broader selection of products and reduce the stock of poor-selling products it also created labour problems at supplier factories like low wages, excessive working hours and exploitation of migrant workers. Therefore, the structure of relations among global brands, lead suppliers, large retailers and factories is the root cause of these workplace issues. These can only be tackled when this broader structure is reformed.

The above-stated workplace problems can be seen as outcomes of increasing competition in which suppliers take the low road. Competition has driven suppliers to downgrade and move into lower value-added activities which squeezes labour by the provision of lower wages and non-abidance to social- and environmental regulations. On the contrary, suppliers can also turn to the high road by engaging in upgrading strategies regarding for example product or process. One can think of more efficiently producing better products, moving into activities that are higher valued or by the employment of special skills. Diverging the low- and high roads helps explain differences and similarities in working conditions within similar export-oriented industries across producer countries (Lund-Thomson, Nadvi, Chan, Khara & Xu, 2012). Distelhorst & Locke (2019) have conducted a study that examined the school of thought that taking the low road indeed offers a competitive advantage among more than two thousand factories across 36 countries primarily in Asia. They found that compliance with labour laws could actually be beneficial. Higher workplace standards may, by complementing effective management practices, make the productivity of manufacturers higher. On top of that, there are importers that, due to reputational risk, are reluctant to buy from exporters that have workplace practices that are socially irresponsible. Therefore, compliant exporters might have the enjoyment of a compliance premium that rewards them rather than punishes them for abiding by minimum labour standards. Nevertheless, compliance with labour standards can be so costly that it

outweighs any benefit. Reality shows that brands are reluctant to pay extra to their suppliers because of the possible eradication of brands' margins or increasing prices that consumers do not accept. Even if it would help them improve workers' working conditions (Locke, 2013).

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

Another debate regarding business-caused labour rights violations in the garment industry revolves around Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR), a practical connection between businesses and the human rights regime. It comprises the idea that corporations should pay attention to environmental and social issues instead of just focussing on financial returns (Banerjee, 2008). CSR has shortcomings and does not always cause labour rights compliance (Locke, Amenqual & Mangla, 2009). Hence, businesses' codes of conduct are often debated. Some studies suggest codes secure labour rights better than legally binding (ILO) regulations because different stakeholders have been able to negotiate the contents of codes leading to consensus and legitimacy satisfying all parties (Mantilla, 2009). Other studies have shown that codes can indeed improve wages and working times but not necessarily rights to freedom of association and non-discrimination (Barrientos & Smith, 2007; Frenkel, 2001; Mamic, 2017; Rodríguez-Garavito, 2005; Ross, 2006). Furthermore, despite suppliers' compliance with codes, matters like bad occupational health and overtime are still too present in factories (Nadvi, 2008). Therefore, improving labour standards through codes could be considered weak (Wells, 2007). Other reasons for poor CSR could be found in weak legislation and enforcement mechanisms (Khan, Lockhart & Bathurst, 2017; Rahim, 2017), a lack of financial resources (Chi, 2011; Raham & Moazzem, 2017) and window dressing because of the unwillingness of suppliers and corporations to comply (Banerjee, 2008; Lu & Castka, 2009; Nguyen, Mani, Kha & Papadopoulos, 2021; Tsoi, 2010; Roth, Valentinov, Heidingsfelder & Pérez-Valls, 2020). Regarding the latter point, it is argued that CSR could lead to a competitive advantage due to a good reputation amongst customers for which public communication is important. As such, there is a chance businesses apply CSR as window dressing to please customers (Dahlsrud, 2006; Dickson & Zhang, 2004). Therefore, like states, corporations in developed countries can contribute to the paradox of empty promises in which they make expansive commitments yet lack taking subsequent action to comply with CSR (Lim & Tsutsui, 2012).

Some studies perceive the disregard of governments as a cause for labour rights violations in the garment industry. One reason for this is that in developing countries, national governments lacked the institutional and financial capacity to fully regulate labour rights (Hemphill & White, 2018; Locke, 2013). Also, governments choose not to systematically enforce domestic laws to compete with other states. They are afraid of driving up costs for factories and losing orders to other countries.

Consequently, they grant factories exemptions from regulations regarding for example wages and working hours (Locke, 2013; Taplin, 2014).

China vis-à-vis human rights and labour rights

China's position regarding human rights differs from that of the West. China argues concepts of human rights can differ among states and rejects the perception that human rights are universal. States cannot be demanded to comply with concepts of human rights that differ from their own (Angle, 2002). Therefore, human rights infringe upon China's sovereignty. On top of that, over time two major conceptions of human rights were developed. The first one throughout the 1990s constituted the perception that human rights were a threat to the regime for which they had to be contained and rejected. The second conception during the early 2000s was that human rights were the state party's "governing capabilities to regulate market order, facilitate social equity, deliver legal justice, and maintain regional and international stability." (Chen & Hsu, 2018, p. 547). Therefore, the language of human rights is primarily involved with emphasis on economic development, sovereignty and the importance of domestic state intervention. The latter refers to the government enforcing and dictating legislation for the sake of peoples' physical subsistence and right to material development which are defining characteristics of China's human rights discourse (Chen & Hsu, 2018).

This is also evident regarding labour rights. Even though early in its capitalist development China completed labour legislation much faster than most other capitalist states in history, labour laws remain poorly enforced due to China's development strategy that focusses on efficiency over equity (Chen, 2007). Like other Asian states, the Chinese government pursues collective interests while protection of individual rights is inferior (Chen & Hsu, 2018; Munro, 2011). This contradicts the history of the West where collective rights were the foundation for people to achieve and expand social or individual rights regarding for instance labour standards. In Chinese history, through a strong Leninist state, labour standards resulted from Maoist state socialism that gave workers substantial economic and social entitlements like health care and pensions instead of labour movements (Chen, 2007). This history of controlling Leninist political tradition and current development strategy consisting of efficiency over equity explains China's refusal to grant workers collective rights since its market-driven reforms. On the same note, the individual rights that are given to workers since the reforms restrict their collective rights like the right to strike (Chen, 2007; van der Heijden, n.d.). As workers cannot assemble themselves and bargain on labour conditions, the race to the bottom in the Chinese garment industry can persist.

Therefore, overtime can occur. In just single research examined and scanned for this thesis was overtime a central topic for analysis. It takes excessive overtime (and low wages) as topic of analysis but fails to connect it to the wider human rights regime. It argues that overtime is a

consequence of wages that are too low to live on and that specifically, piece by piece rates are problematic (Chan & Siu, 2010).

Conclusion

All in all, this thesis acknowledges the discussion about human rights' universality, their debatable impact on the ground and the different reasons for (non) compliance by states. Moreover, this thesis agrees that (Western) corporations carry responsibility for the race to the bottom that is going on in the Chinese garment industry since China's reforms in 1978. Examination of CSR is important to point out its flaws and merits so that corporations can act upon them and better respond to their responsibilities. Nevertheless, not only corporations are responsible but also consumers by their demand, factory managements that lower working standards and governments of producing states who grant exemptions to factories allowing them to lower working standards. Furthermore, this thesis takes into account China's critical perspectives on the human rights regime as the West sees it and its prioritisation of economic rights.

The literature speaks broadly about labour exploitation which can consist of various abuses but does not examine them elaborately. One exception is collective bargaining which is mostly analysed. Furthermore, the interaction between transnational and domestic factors that specifically generate overtime is missing. Just in one research by Chan & Siu (2010) was overtime a central topic for analysis but it fails to connect it to the wider human rights regime and China's policy priorities. That is where this thesis steps in. For the first time, it takes overtime in the Chinese garment industry as a focal point and examines transnational and domestic factors that contribute to it.

Theory and Methods

As mentioned before, despite the fact that China has not ratified a number of ILO (core) conventions, its responsibilities as a major economic power towards states it exports to remain. It has the duty and expectation to create a safe and just environment for workers in its economy. For instance, the UNGPs state, "States must protect against human rights abuse within their territory and/or jurisdiction by third parties, including business enterprises. This requires taking appropriate steps to prevent, investigate, punish and redress such abuse through effective policies, legislation, regulations and adjudication." (United Nations, 2011, p. 3) which is regardless of ratification of ILO conventions. As such, governments, including the Chinese government, must put efforts into preventing workers from making lots of overtime because, for example, they need to sustain a living or experience pressure from their colleagues and factory management. Yet, there are multiple reports of the persistence of excessive overtime in the Chinese garment industry (China Labor Watch, 2011; Kane, 2015; Kollbrunner, 2021; Labour Behind the Label, 2017; Ngai, 2005; Smyth, Qian, Nielsen & Kaempfer, 2013; Verité, 2012). Accordingly, the following research question is posed:

Why does labour exploitation in the Chinese garment industry persist despite the international human rights regime?

An examination of overtime in the Chinese garment industry since 1978

Briefly said the first answer is the transnational capitalist system that thrives on outsourcing and generates competition amongst Chinese garment factories causing them to lower working standards. A critical note here is the West's hypocrisy because it calls upon China to stop labour exploitation, while, via outsourcing paired with quick-paced demand and low payments, the West contributes to it. The second answer is that China perceives overtime as a tool for economic growth and thereupon shapes its domestic policies that are based on the rights to subsistence and development. Namely, meeting production schedules keeps garment factories in business and contributes to China's economic development. Eventually, as argued by the Chinese government, this brings prosperity and therewith grants all people human rights. Therefore, China has no interest in combatting overtime in its garment industry; one of the backbone industries of the state. This argument relates to the discussion concerning the universality of human rights between the West and China. Whereas the West argues human rights apply to all people and therefore ought to be complied with by all governments, China argues for 'human rights with Chinese characteristics' which challenges the Western hegemonic idea of human rights. It comprises openness to various interpretations of

universality, essentialisation of states' sovereignty and equality between social, political and economic rights.

Theory

The first concept one comes across is 'labour exploitation' which comprises a lot of practices according to the UNGPs and OECD Guidelines¹. For this thesis, I will solely focus on overtime which I define as "actual hours of work workers are forced to make per period in excess of standard contractual hours" (Hart, 2004, p. 1). Stipulated by Chinese law, contractual hours comprise eight hours per day and a maximum of 44 hours per week. In addition, employers cannot require their workers to work six days per week (Shepherd, 2021). The next concept in the research question is 'garment industry' which consists of 'global supply chains' which are characterised as "fragmented and globally dispersed production, multiple tiers and actors within each supply chain, suppliers producing for multiple brands, short lead times and tight margins" (Locke, 2013, p. 8). The garment industry, as a global value chain, comprises brand-name firms and numerous retailers that often control the designs and place their orders regularly at countless manufacturers abroad with short lead times and tight margins. The relatively few buyers that are primarily headquartered in the global North set the prices and the manufacturers ultimately have to take what they are offered (Adler-Milstein & Kline, 2017; Locke, 2013). Therefore, the garment industry comprises buyer- and retail-driven value chains with power asymmetries (Fernandez-Stark, Frederick & Gereffi, 2011). Production of garments often takes place in 'sweatshops' where worker exploitation, according to what is mentioned in the footnote, is the standard (Adler-Milstein & Kline, 2017; Powell, 2014). All in all, I will perceive the garment industry as an economic activity conducted by many companies (primarily based in the global North) and their suppliers (primarily based in the global South) with the goal to manufacture and sell garments. In the main research question, I am referring to 'the Chinese garment industry' with which I mean suppliers based in China with the goal to manufacture garments. These suppliers export garments to the West where they are sold by Western companies.

The Chinese garment industry was chosen as a case study because for decades, it has been the largest and most influential garment exporter in the world which makes it interesting to better understand this case study. The same goes for the differences in culture, values and norms in China in comparison to the West. It could be interesting to analyse how China's notion of human rights influences its policies and practices to counter labour exploitation in the garment industry. Having

_

¹ Examples of such practices would be the exposal of workers to unsafe and unhealthy workplaces, the rejection of the right to strike and the right to freedom of association, and the use of forced labour by which work or services are extracted from any person under threat of penalties or does so involuntarily. This also includes coercive labour which indirectly forces people to work overtime due to their pay that is insufficient to live on (Social Economic Council, 2022).

academic knowledge about a deeper understanding of this can help in finding ways to combat, prevent and/or mitigate labour exploitation like overtime in this industry.

The next concept in the research question is 'international human rights regime' which is elaborated on in the literature review. Human rights are found in for instance, numerous international treaties, national constitutions and regional declarations (Nickel, 2014; Regilme, 2020). Their acceptance could be illustrated by the worldwide implementation and institutionalisation by governments and world leaders (Council on Foreign Relations, 2021). Nonetheless, the universality of the human rights regime could be debated on.

This thesis will focus on labour rights which are sets of globally accepted international labour rights and norms aiming to protect workers from labour exploitation. Essential therefore are ILO conventions, the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and the UNGPs. They have been widely institutionalised and implemented by various states and by the business sector.

Method

The research is a single-case study that examines the come about of overtime in the Chinese garment industry since 1978s through process tracing; the year that China's economy opened its doors to the global economy. It was after this that overtime emerged due to competition among (garment) factories because of market forces. Labour conditions were left to the private sector consisting of Western companies sourcing from Chinese (garment) factories where labour costs were low when compared to the West. Apparently, to make a profit and grow, the Western companies had the (sub)conscious idea that abroad, they could exploit workers instead of at home where trade unions were formed and better working conditions were mandatory. Also, the Chinese state 'allowing' worker exploitation that has been bringing prosperity and is argued to eventually grant all Chinese people human rights is interesting to consider throughout the research observation.

In the first part of the analysis, transnational factors contributing to overtime are examined. These factors are the market forces that belong to the free market in which power asymmetries persist. High-paced demand from Western buyers and low payments cause a race to the bottom among garment factories causing them to lower working standards to meet the demands. For example, for garment factories to stay in business and not lose the demands, workers are ought to make overtime. Meanwhile, CSR attempts to remedy labour exploitation are disputable. As such, self-reflexivity of brands regarding their purchasing practices is demanded. In the second part of the analysis, domestic factors contributing to overtime are examined. The main factor examined is China's policy priorities which emphasise human rights regarding subsistence and economic development rather than on subjects the West emphasises like the right to freedom of speech. Even so, China actually uses human rights as a smokescreen to justify labour exploitation. Namely, the collective goal of economic

development will eventually enable China to guarantee human rights for everyone. However, therefore, human rights first need to be violated. Moreover, China disagrees with the universality of human rights as the West perceives it. Accordingly, China brings along different norms, values and priorities when it comes to protecting human rights. Also interrelated is Chinese culture which is strongly shaped by its history and the current government. The latter strongly essentialises poverty alleviation and the prioritisation of the collective goal of prosperity for all over the individual goal of for example freedom of speech. Finally, in the conclusion I will answer the research question by an examination of the interaction of the identified transnational- and domestic factors that generate overtime in the Chinese garment industry.

For the research data triangulation was important. I have consulted various sources from several institutions with diverse interests like the UN, ILO, the Chinese state, international media, non-governmental organisations (NGOs) and multi-stakeholder initiatives. Via Leiden University's (online) library, and Google Scholar, I have consulted scientific, secondary literature. I preferably used the newest literature possible because norms and values and therewith the human rights regime can change. I have rarely used a source older than 2000 because it either was a leading UN document or provided historical facts. I have used search words like 'human rights regime', 'labour rights', 'garment industry', 'garment industry China', 'China human rights regime', 'labour exploitation (Chinese) garment industry' and 'CSR'.

Transnational factors that generate overtime

The most compelling reason why labour exploitation including overtime persists in the Chinese garment industry is the market forces of the current capitalist, free-market system that thrives on outsourcing and consumer demand. It generates competition amongst Chinese garment factories causing them to lower working standards. Meanwhile, CSR's attempts to remedy labour exploitation are disputable. As such, self-reflexivity of brands regarding their purchasing practices is demanded.

The free market

Let us first examine what the capitalist system means for the Chinese garment industry. Since China's economic reforms, it was market forces that determined labour conditions independently of the human rights regime. These labour conditions were strongly influenced by the competition that had started in this industry. In general, during the twentieth century, the regulation of labour standards was conducted both via national law and internationally via ILO conventions. However, global supply chains' emergence dispersed authority not only across states but also among global buyers and their countless suppliers (Locke, 2013). The international powerful ideology of comparative advantage and the idea of 'working poverty is good for development' flourished (Mezzadri, 2016).

Moreover, the free market that includes intense competition amongst Chinese garment factories set new labour standards outside the apparatus of the human rights regime that, for instance, include working overtime. At the beginning of the 1990s, foreign retailers like Nike, Adidas and Benetton were allowed to compete in China (China Textile University & Harvard Center of Textile and Apparel Research, 1999). While reducing production costs, control over functions with the highest value like research and development, names of brands and innovation maintained with these brands (Henderson, Appelbaum & Ho, 2013). Accordingly, firms in China's coastal zones which opened up first during the reforms aimed at producing garments for the least price possible to compete with others. They economised on labour costs. One way was to outsource production to cheaper locations, sweatshops, inland. Subsequently, sweatshops quickly reproduced and a race to the bottom was unleashed with the result of lower average wages than in other manufacturing industries in China (China Textile University & Harvard Center of Textile and Apparel Research, 1999). As outlined in the theory, besides low wages, workers in the sweatshops encountered, among other things, excessively long hours and unsafe working conditions. Hence, the global value chain that comprises the outsourcing of production by big international corporations to Chinese garment factories established its own labour rights standards and labour conditions. Therefore, the strategies of the twentieth century that involved, among other things, ILO conventions, fall short to uphold a human rights regime and therewith, labour rights in the current capitalist system (Locke, 2013).

Another way the free market has set labour standards in the Chinese garment industry outside the apparatus of the human rights regime can be found in the currently growing pressuring demand of international buyers who want low prices, short lead times and smaller batches to respond to rapid and quickly changing demands of consumers (Cooke & He, 2010; Locke, 2013). Nowadays, consumers aspire to be 'trendy' and therefore need more clothes that go along with the quickly changing fashion trends. In addition, more people have money to spend on clothes. Brands meet this demand by reducing the price of garments and by the provision of more garments (Rauturier, 2018). Subsequently, consumers have become used to cheap garments and are unwilling to pay more for garments that have been produced responsibly (Taplin, 2014). To meet this demand, buyers increase pressure on factories to produce as quickly as possible for as less money as possible to provide consumers with cheap garments. Therefore, Chinese suppliers have structured their production processes accordingly. The processes allow suppliers to quickly increase production yet without the addition of fixed costs (Cooke & He, 2010; Locke, 2013). In general, the average work pace has increased dramatically because competition forces factories to prioritise order deadlines and production targets over just working conditions. Therefore, especially during peak season, workers are ought to make overtime and an eight-hour working day in the Chinese garment industry is no more (Fair Wear Foundation, n.d.; Pringle, 2001). NGO Verité (2012) found that often the reliance on excessive work hours and mandatory overtime by factory managers in China is necessary to fulfil orders they receive and stay in competition with other factories. If deadlines are not met, international buyers will go to another factory. Accordingly, overtime hours are perceived as a safety net when orders cannot be completed in a regular workweek (Ngai, 2005). This illustrates the importance of meeting deadlines for factories in order for them to stay in business and grow which contributes to China's overall economic growth.

Another reason why overtime persists in the Chinese garment industry due to the free-market system is low wages caused by pressure for lower prices as described above and a competitive job market. One reason is that suppliers have started to rely on contract or migrant workers who, depending on production schedules, can be quickly hired and fired (Locke, 2013). These migrant workers are very common and, together with local workers, make the job market extremely competitive. Therefore, the high supply of labour enables factories to pay workers even less. Subsequently, by working normal hours, workers cannot make ends meet and are forced to make overtime (Hoi Yee, 2006; Ngai, 2005). Contract workers are prone to make overtime because they are far from their families and fill in the gap of social- and family life with work. Besides, they want to send them as much money as possible (Verité, 2012). One study even found that migrant workers make overtime because they believe anything in China is just and fair (Chan & Siu, 2010). Accordingly,

pressure for other workers to make overtime increases. Factories' performance pressure encouraged by supervisors and executives regards workers who do not make overtime as lazy or unmotivated (Shepard, 2021). Due to gaps between managers and employees regarding power and income demanding overtime from their employees gets easier (Hoi Yee, 2006). As such, personal pressure and orders from factory management together with pressure on production due to foreign demand of the free market have led to the common practice of working days that are longer than eight hours (So, 2010). This performance pressure can interrelate with the problematic piece-rate system that drives garment workers to make overtime because it is based on individual performance. The more they personally produce, the more money they will receive. Consequently, workers do not think in terms of hours and produce as much as possible regardless of time (Chan & Siu, 2010).

CSR

Within the capitalist system in order to fill the void of compliance with the human rights regime in the Chinese garment industry, there is CSR. To be clear, in this context I elaborate on CSR conducted by Western companies in the Chinese garment industry. As outlined in the literature review it aims to put responsibility on corporations for social and environmental issues due their business conduct. Accordingly, it aspires to let businesses comply with human rights and therewith counter overtime. Therefore, communication between companies, customers and other stakeholders like workers are essential (Social Economic Council, 2022). Yet, greenwashing of CSR by Western brands lurks (Butler, 2022). CSR is used as an instrument that differentiates corporations in a competitive market. Especially as CSR practices cannot be seen by consumers and can only be signalled through labelling or advertising (Lee, Cruz & Shankar, 2018). Likewise, the Western brand '& Other Stories' uses wording that makes garments appear like they were created in Sweden, France or North-America where labour rights are protected. However, in reality, only the designs are created there. The actual garments are produced in for instance China and Bangladesh where labour exploitation thrives (Assoune, 2022).

Most of the time companies have adopted codes of conduct Chinese suppliers ought to sign when stepping into business with brands. Compliance with these codes is checked through social audits often conducted by third parties. Nevertheless, their monitoring and implementation are problematic. Results from these audits are not always trustworthy and Chinese companies see activities related to CSR as a financial burden. They have little economic incentive to encourage CSR implementation which constrains their willingness to comply (Cooke & He, 2010). Likewise, to meet audit requirements, factory managements face the temptation to engage in window-dressing. Especially concerning freedom of association (International Federation for Human Rights, 2013). An enabling right that is generally harder to achieve than basic improvements like safe work conditions (Chan, 2014; Locke, 2013). Workers are also told to give 'the right answers' to auditors to conceal

malpractices in factories like overtime or low wages (Ngai, 2005; Verité, 2012). Besides, via consultants based in China, auditors could have been bribed to falsify undesirable audit results (Bermingham & Zhou, 2021). The success of factory management's hiding of malpractices often lies in the poor connection between auditors and the workers, the workers' willingness to stay in the factory because they are dependent on it for their livelihoods and auditors' announcement of audits which gives factory management time to hide malpractices (Hasan & Shi, 2017). As such, overtime can persist in the Chinese garment industry as it could be hidden by factory management in collaboration with workers who then claim they do not work overtime.

Brands' purchasing practices

It is also important to look at brands' responsibilities regarding the persistence of overtime in the Chinese garment industry. Namely, through their governance of the chain, brands have the potential to exercise significant influence over suppliers. They decide what is to be produced, where, how and for what price (Lund-Thomson, Nadvi, Chan, Khara & Xu, 2012). Especially brands' buyers are the most powerful stakeholders as their orders maintain the garment factories in business (Hasan & Shi, 2017). Nevertheless, it is their purchasing practices that demand deterioration of working conditions due to the pressure they put on factories. The tight delivery times, changing orders, low payments and demand for small batches cause workers having to make overtime and get paid low wages (International Federation for Human Rights, 2013; Linfei & Qingliang, 2009; Social Economic Council, 2022). Better purchasing practices like brands' acknowledgement of possible negative impact in the chain due to their actions, openness to discuss their practices based on personal analysis and feedback, and translating those evaluations into purchasing practices, can overcome overtime in factories (Social Economic Council, 2022).

Just talking about the importance of human rights yet wanting good products as cheap as possible for which human rights are traded off, as done by various western brands, is hypocrite (Ngai, 2005). Brands must critically look at their own purchasing practices and act upon them to stop labour exploitation instead of just talking. For example, setting realistic, negotiated delivery times and not changing orders last minute. Likewise, there are buyers in the garment industry that conduct CSR to protect the brand's name and to respond to demands from society or governments who desire the protection of labour rights (Hasan & Shi, 2017). However, even though they do have a genuine interest in decent labour conditions to avoid public scandals and participate in private initiatives regarding monitoring of factories or certification schemes, they are unwilling to pay extra for improved labour conditions as that could erode their margins or lead to price increases that consumers are unwilling to accept. As such, on their own, companies refuse to fully redress workplace problems throughout their supply chains because their suppliers can also produce for competing brands who then do not pay for

labour conditions' alleviation (Locke, 2013). On top of that, it is argued that the business community has lobbied for a weaker labour law, the Labour Contract Law, that protects workers less which illustrates businesses' interest in keeping labour conditions low for their own wellbeing (So, 2010).

One other critical note is that Western governments could, via regulation, compel brands to improve their purchasing practices. Up to now, few EU-member states like Germany and Norway have handled such domestic legislation (MVO Nederland, 2022). Yet, today, in the European Union there are negotiations about the 'Directive on corporate sustainability due diligence' which obliges big companies to oversee their (negative) impacts on people and planet caused by their conduct and mitigate or avoid them where necessary. Not only must these impacts be examined in relation to the companies' own business conduct but also that of daughter companies and throughout the value chain (Terra, 2022).

In conclusion, while corporations in the West started and profit from outsourcing garment production to China because of lower production costs connected to labour exploitation like overtime and low wages, it is the West that shames China for this very labour exploitation. Therefore, the West seems to ignore its crucial role in supporting labour exploitation through Western brands' purchasing practices in Chinese garment factories while unrightfully putting the full blame on China.

Domestic factors that generate overtime

To summarise the second reason why labour exploitation, and therewith overtime, in the Chinese garment industry persists despite the international human rights regime that will be elaborated on is that China perceives overtime as a tool for economic growth which will eventually provide human rights for all people in China. Accordingly, China bases its domestic policies on the rights to subsistence and development. This relates to the capitalist system that has brought prosperity to China. Therein, overtime is used by garment factories as a tool to meet the delivery schedules of western brands. Meeting delivery schedules and staying in business contribute to China's economic growth. Therefore, China does not have interest in combatting overtime in its garment industry; one of its backbone industries.

This argument also relates to the discussion concerning the universality of human rights between the West and China. Whereas the West argues human rights apply to all people and therefore ought to be complied with by all governments, China argues for 'human rights with Chinese characteristics' which challenges the West's hegemonic idea of human rights. It also prioritises manufacturing including the persistence of overtime which supports economic development and brings prosperity granting all people human rights.

Human rights with Chinese characteristics

Today, in its human rights discourse the Chinese government emphasises 'human rights with Chinese characteristics' comprising equal importance of economic, social, and political rights, essentialisation of states' sovereignty and more importantly, rejection of human rights' universality as projected by the West. Therefore, China does not reject human rights itself but established a counter-discourse against the current human rights regime of the West. For instance, China's support for human rights becomes evident when reading the State Council Information Office of the People's Republic of China's (2019, p. 3) following statement: "As a key member of the international community, China raises high the banner of peace, development, cooperation, and mutual benefits, staunchly safeguarding world peace, promoting common development, and advancing development through cooperation while promoting human rights through development. It fully participates in global human rights governance and works strenuously to advance the international cause of human rights." Especially the latter part illustrates China's human rights discourse of prioritising economic development to eventually grant all people human rights.

Deviating perspectives on human rights' universality

Let us first elaborate on the wider discussion about the idea of human rights between the West, which holds the current hegemonic idea of human rights being universal and China, the rising hegemony that rejects the West's idea about human rights' universality. The discussion is about who will maintain the hegemonic idea of human rights. Especially because China has deeply embedded itself in the world order led by the West enabling China to change the order from within. China supports human rights as idealised in the UDHR, has joined multilateral treaties and has for instance signed most core human rights conventions (Cai, 2021; Yunlong, 2014). As such, it has integrated into the international order and gathered legitimacy regarding human rights. This increases the potential of China to, among other things, eventually reshape universality's Western conception (Cai, 2021). Especially since the Xi administration, the international human rights stage is used by China to propagandise its position on human rights. It is not just about the avoidance of international scrutiny of its human rights record anymore. Instead, China takes an active role in the diminishment of the human rights regime's strength while advocating for its alternative solution of human rights with Chinese characteristics (Chen, 2019). China portrays itself as the leading voice of the global South when it comes to (alternative) human rights (Chen, 2019). Accordingly, the West feels threatened; having China as a hegemonic power regarding the concept of human rights threatens the current, Western-led world order.

On the one hand, the West argues for the universality of human rights in the sense that they apply to all humans. Accordingly, all states have to comply with human rights. While this notion of universality is mostly power-based, it is also ideology-biased and self-centred. It is a soft instrument paired with the hard instrument of force that transforms the global order into a Western order. Likewise, the West has carried out humanitarian interventions in states like Libya where the perception was that human rights were gravely and systematically infringed to spread and maintain its norms and values (Cai, 2021). However, there is hypocrisy in the Western discourse because the West also does not abide by all its human rights yet expects China to do so. For instance, in 2020/2021 the United States' border control carried out nearly 1.5 million unnecessary and unlawful pushbacks at its border with Mexico. Returnees were not given access to asylum procedures, individual risk assessments or legal remedies. In the United Kingdom, restriction of the right to freedom of peaceful assembly was restricted by expansion of police powers to ban, impose or limit 'noisy' or 'disruptive' protests. Accordingly, excessive and unnecessary police force was used while dispersing a vigil in London for Sarah Everard who was a victim of rape and murder by a police officer. In the Netherlands, to detect fraudulent applications for childcare benefits, tax authorities used a discriminatory algorithmic system. This led to false accusations of fraud for tens of thousands of people who unrightfully had to pay back big amounts of money. As the criteria of whether the applicant had a Dutch nationality was used as a risk factor, most people who were accused of fraud had a migrant background and were from lowincome classes (Amnesty International, 2022a).

On the other hand, China rejects the Western principle of human rights' universality and argues for the inclusion of various interpretations of universality. This idea of universality paves a major pathway for China's pursuit to reshape global perceptions of universality of which the hegemony is currently held by the West (Cai, 2021). China's opposing stance against the West can be explained by its past marked by a century of imperialist intrusion which China perceives as humiliation. In its view, it was capitalist states that used the human rights system as an excuse to oppress and exploit other (socialist) states by intervening in their internal affairs. All this to achieve capitalist states' imperialist goal. Accordingly, a Chinese, deep-rooted nationalist sentiment emerged that rejects interference from, once again, capitalist states in domestic affairs (Chen, 2019). This is well visible when one analyses China's ongoing human rights dialogues with for example the EU during which China defends sovereignty and non-interference. According to its perspective, these talks are held between unequal partners because in reality the EU intends to change China by 'bringing it' legalism and modernity which China is aware of and rejects (Sevastik, 2015). One tactic of China to do so is exposing hypocrisy regarding human rights practices inside and outside of the Western states (Chen & Hsu, 2018). For instance, when the US, under the Trump administration pointed at the detainment of minority groups in Xinjiang, China pointed at the US' domestic policy at the US-Mexican border where children were, illegally, forced to separate from their parents (Human Rights Watch, 2022a).

The equalisation of economic, social and political rights

With China's equalisation of the importance of economic, social, and political rights, it narrates that the prioritisation of manufacturing supports economic development. It sees poverty as the biggest obstacle in the provision of human rights and therefore refers to the mid-19th century when China experienced wars and fell into backwardness and poverty. There was hunger and people lived in misery. With this in China's collective mind, its drive for prosperity keeps growing. As such, the government has economic development on top of its governance agenda and aims to solve all problems with that (State Council Information Office of the People's Republic of China, 2019). Indeed, prosperity in China has increased because of the economic reforms however, uneven income distribution is a growing trend and could lead to social instability (Hoi Yee, 2006). Nevertheless, besides that and regardless of working conditions, Xi openly supports hard work and honours workers and their societal role in contributing to prosperity and unity. Across Chinese media, this transformation of workers' personal struggles into an ideology is continuously repeated (China Labour Bulletin, 2022). Economic development derived from the collective, will increase prosperity and eventually grant people human rights. As such, China uses the principle of 'Efficiency First, Fairness is Indispensable' and has established priorities on policies based on economic rights like the rights to subsistence and

economic development instead of on policies based on civil and political rights (Yunlong, 2014). Some that contribute to overtime will be elaborated on below.

Policy Priorities

China is restrictive when it comes to freedom of speech because it connects to social stability. People speaking out freely means less control over society which could lead to social instability and hinders economic development (Yunlong, 2014). For example, if workers protest and thus do not work, manufacturing is hindered and therewith the ultimate goal of economic development and provision of human rights to all. Besides, already in 2009, freedom of speech was problematic in China due to strict censorship policies. For example, websites like Facebook and Twitter have disappeared from the Chinese Internet and authors of comments on news articles must register their real identities. Accordingly, of comments that are subversive, the authors can be held accountable which can lead to blacklisting 'problematic' journalists or even imprisoning them despite the Chinese government's claim that Chinese citizens have freedom of speech on the Internet (Amnesty International, 2022b; Archie, 2009; Human Rights Watch, 2022b; Sevastik, 2015).

Another priority of China regarding labour and human rights is its policy on collective rights which undermines China's ultimate goal of economic development. This correlates with the above-stated limitation of freedom of speech. Namely, China's legal framework on labour is based on individual rights. For instance, China's 2008 Labour Contract Law aims to regulate and stabilise employment relations by, among other things, making it a legal obligation for employers to sign written contracts with workers (Chan, 2014). Yet simultaneously, China has not ratified core ILO conventions such as convention number 87: Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention, 1948 or 98: Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention, 1949 which focus on collective rights (ILO, 2017b; ILO, 2017c). What comes closest to collective labour rights is that under Chinese Law, any group of people consisting of 25 or more, can create a trade union without the agreement of the company. However, all must be subsidiary to the All-China Federation of Trade Unions (ACFTU). This is a unitary (monopolistic) trade union organisation linked to the Chinese communist party and dominated by company management. There are no opportunities to create independent unions nor is striking allowed (Estlund, 2017).

The ACFTU is used as an instrument to curb dissent by the Chinese government to maintain stability and avoid unrest. It distributes handouts and implores workers to be patient in case there is an obvious conflict between employers and employees. Nonetheless, conflicts are not resolved. Hence, the ACFTU actively seeks out and suppresses worker unrest. It supports China's capitalist accumulation by disregarding workers' issues so business can continue as it goes and bring wealth to the state (Taylor & Li, 2007). This way, the Chinese government makes workers feel like they are heard which 'pleases'

them and refrains them from rebellious behaviour while also pleasing the economy and maintaining social stability (Reny, 2021; Tusalem, 2015).

For the generation of overtime in the Chinese garment industry this implies that when it occurs in factories, workers are unable to collectively bargain for better working conditions and cease overtime. The ACFTU is no help, freedom of speech is restricted and, under the banner of social stability, independent strikes outside the ACFTU's apparatus are oppressed by the government potentially leading to workers' prosecutions (Kuo, 2021). Moreover, the government supports hard work regardless of working conditions and in its eyes, overtime has contributed to economic growth since its economic reforms in 1978 (China Labour Bulletin, 2022). Therefore, it does not have interest in combatting overtime.

The importance of state sovereignty

For human rights with Chinese characteristics, sovereignty is a sacred right and despite whatever circumstances, cannot be compromised (Dingding, 2009). For the West, sovereignty can be compromised when human rights are violated in a sovereign state (Cai, 2021). Nevertheless, for China, its national conditions and the principles of sovereignty and non-interference with its domestic affairs must be considered by other governments. As such, criticism of its human rights record is perceived as interfering in China's domestic affairs and condemnation of Chinese activists that are detained is perceived as a violation of the judicial sovereignty of China. These ultra-statist conceptions of sovereignty and emphasis on non-interference on various levels remain a constant and prominent theme in China's discourse on human rights. Nevertheless, China disregards the fact that under customary international law and human rights treaty law, states have legal obligations. Under the principle of non-interference, international scrutiny to ensure states' accountability to international laws is not a violation (Chen, 2019).

Another reason why China argues for state sovereignty and rejects human rights' universality as pronounced by the West is its belief that active state intervention and institutional support are necessary to realise human rights. Namely, within the Chinese government's governing capabilities are, among other things, its capability to regulate market order, maintain stability on a domestic and international level and facilitate social equity. Human rights are in China's sovereignty and universality as defined by the West of them could intrude that (Chen & Hsu, 2018). Hence, in case other states have the perception that China, by its domestic interventions in for example suppressing protests, does not comply with liberal human rights, this same set of rights gives them legitimacy to intervene and therefore threaten the Chinese government. This could eventually lead to bringing about regime change which the Chinese government aims to avoid.

Not only does China reject the universality of human rights when it comes to its own sovereignty, but also when it comes to other states' sovereignty. As such, it argues states can have human rights concepts that differ from the current western, hegemonic concept. Furthermore, one ought not to demand states to comply with human rights concepts that differ from their own (Angle, 2002). Each state must be able to explore and find its own most efficient way in accordance with its own context (Yunlong, 2014). Therefore, China is on a similar page as Besson (2013) whose argument is elaborated on in the literature review. Namely, the legalisation of human rights ought to take place domestically and human rights norms must match domestic human rights if they are to be regarded as human rights. Accordingly, human rights are not universal as pronounced by the West.

Conclusion

The answer to the research question 'Why does labour exploitation in the Chinese garment industry persist despite the international human rights regime?' is firstly that the current capitalist free-market system and secondly that the policy priorities of the Chinese government preserve overtime. In the Chinese garment industry, a backbone industry for the state and part of the free-market system, labour exploitation including overtime contributes to its strong economic position and supports China's economic development which the Chinese government prioritises. Meanwhile the free-market system also does not have an interest in combatting labour exploitation and overtime in the Chinese garment industry as that could decrease financial returns for both Western companies and local factories.

The first point is the current capitalist, free-market system that thrives on outsourcing and generates competition amongst Chinese garment factories setting labour standards outside the apparatus of the human rights regime. With their demand for low prices, short lead times and small batches, international buyers put pressure on Chinese garment factories. This also interrelates with today's consumer demand for cheap and big quantities of garments. Consequently, factories are forced to meet the buyers' demand to stay in business because otherwise the buyers will go to another factory. Accordingly, factories lower working standards and for example use overtime as a safety net when orders cannot be completed in a regular workweek. As such, labour standards are set outside the human rights regime's apparatus which in the first place lacks strong enforcement mechanisms. There are attempts of CSR to make companies comply with the human rights regime however these could be debated on. CSR efforts are not always well-monitored and implemented. Actually, brands themselves must look at their responsibilities regarding the persistence of overtime in the Chinese garment industry. They are the most powerful actors in the chain and today it is their purchasing practices that put pressure on garment factories causing them to lower working standards and apply overtime to meet brands' tight delivery schedules. Instead, brands should reconsider their purchasing practices and among other things, set realistic, negotiated delivery times and not change orders last minute. Moreover, they should be willing to pay more for garments and improve labour conditions in their supplying factories. Also, regulation from Western governments can play an essential role in forcing companies to improve their purchasing practices and monitor and act upon the impacts they make. As such, poor working conditions including overtime are not solely the responsibility of Chinese garment factories but also that of consumers, Western brands and governments.

The second point is that the Chinese government perceives overtime as a tool for economic growth which is prioritised and will eventually provide human rights for all people in China. This also interrelates with the argument above. Namely, as garment factories, vital for China's economy, use overtime as a safety net to meet tight delivery schedules from Western brands, the government does

not have an interest in combatting overtime. It understands hard work, regardless of working conditions and overtime are needed for garment factories to stay in business. This stance of the Chinese government is even spread across Chinese media. No hard work will cause orders to go to factories abroad which will hamper China's economic development and therewith the granting of human rights to all. The latter relates to the wider discussion about the idea of human rights between on the one hand the hegemonic West which argues for human rights' universality in the sense that they apply to all humans and therefore all states have to comply. On the other hand, there is the rising hegemony China which rejects the Western idea about human rights' universality. Therefore, China does not reject human rights but uses another discourse and argues for human rights with Chinese characteristics. Among other things, it comprises essentialisation of states' sovereignty, rejection of human rights' universality as projected by the West and equal importance of economic, social, and political rights. The latter also explains why China focuses so much on economic development and has policies that support that and overlook overtime. They are based on economic rights instead of civil and political rights. Once the economy is developed, human rights, including civil and political rights can be granted to all.

With the above-stated conclusion, I want to emphasise that even though China was taken as a case study, it is not just China that is responsible for labour exploitation in the Chinese garment industry. Rather, it is in fact Western brands, consumers, both the Chinese and Western governments and the Chinese garment factories. Also, it calls for reflection on behalf of the West. Namely, hypocritically, the West desires China to comply with the human rights regime and condemns human rights violations while first of all, the West itself violates human rights and second, the West demands cheap garments and contributes to labour rights violations. One must acknowledge here that consumers also play their parts. Nowadays, because consumers do not accept higher prices for garments but do want more garments and at a quicker pace, it is harder for companies to do the exact opposite which could lead to improvement of labour conditions in the Chinese garment industry. Namely, pay higher prices and demand at a slower pace. On top of that, perhaps the human rights regime should be more open to other perspectives instead of the Western perspective on one side and the Chinese one on the other. In the end, it is everyday people that must be protected from human rights violations and having two powerful opposing voices makes that difficult.

For further research, one could dive deeper into the Chinese culture and its relationship with overtime. For example, is making overtime and working hard embedded in Chinese culture? Moreover, overtime does not solely occur in China but also in for example Italy or Portugal. There, garment workers working overtime might have different reasons than in China. Besides, overtime does not just occur in garment industries. As such, further research on reasons for overtime could focus on other industries like the electronics industry in for instance India.

References

Adler-Milstein, S. & Kline, J. K. (2017). Sewing Hope: How One Factory Challenges the Apparel Industry's Sweatshops. University of California Press.

Agreement on Sustainable Garments and Textiles. (n.d.). About this agreement. Retrieved March 11, 2022, from https://www.imvoconvenanten.nl/en/garments-textile/agreement

Ahdanisa, D. S., & Rothman, S. B. (2021). Revisiting international human rights treaties: comparing Asian and Western efforts to improve human rights. *SN Social Sciences*, 1(1), 1-41.

Amnesty International. (2022a). *Amnesty International Report 20/21*. Amnesty International Ltd. Retrieved May 24, 2022, from https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/pol10/4870/2022/en/

Amnesty International. (2022b). China 2021. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.amnesty.org/en/location/asia-and-the-pacific/east-asia/china/report-china/

Angle, S. C. (2002). *Human rights in Chinese thought: A cross-cultural Inquiry*. Cambridge University Press.

Archie, J. (2009). Freedom of expression around the world: China. World Literature Today, 83(6), 62.

Assoune, A. (2022). 6 Fashion Brands That Are Greenwashing. Retrieved June 1, 2022, from https://www.panaprium.com/blogs/i/fashion-brands-greenwashing

Asuyama, Y., Chhun, D., Fukunishi, T., Neou, S., & Yamagata, T. (2013). Firm dynamics in the Cambodian garment industry: firm turnover, productivity growth and wage profile under trade liberalization. *Journal of the Asia Pacific Economy*, *18*(1), 51-70.

Azmeh, S., & Nadvi, K. (2013). 'Greater Chinese' global production networks in the Middle East: the rise of the Jordanian garment industry. *Development and Change*, *44*(6), 1317-1340.

Banerjee, S. B. (2008). Corporate social responsibility: The good, the bad and the ugly. *Critical sociology*, *34*(1), 51-79.

Barrientos, S., & Smith, S. (2007). Do workers benefit from ethical trade? Assessing codes of labour practice in global production systems. *Third world quarterly*, *28*(4), 713-729.

Berminghem, F. & Zhou, C. (2021). Bribes, fake factories and forged documents: the buccaneering consultants pervading China's factory audits. Retrieved June 1, 2022, from https://www.scmp.com/economy/china-economy/article/3118683/bribes-fake-factories-and-forged-documents-buccaneering

Besson, S. (2013). The legitimate authority of international human rights: On the reciprocal legitimation of domestic and international human rights. In A. Follesdal, J. Karlsson Schaffer & G. Ulfstein (Eds.), *The legitimacy of international human rights regimes: Legal, political and philosophical perspectives* (pp. 32-83). Cambridge University Press.

Bhambra, G. (2007). *Rethinking modernity: Postcolonialism and the sociological imagination*. Springer.

Brotton, J. (2003). The renaissance bazaar: From the silk road to Michelangelo. OUP Oxford.

Butler, S. (2022, January 14). Dirty greenwashing: watchdog targets fashion brands over misleading claims. *The Guardian*. Retrieved June 1, 2022, from

https://www.theguardian.com/business/2022/jan/14/dirty-greenwashing-watchdog-targets-fashion-brands-over-misleading-claims

Cai, C. (2021). The rise of China and the strategy of universality of international law. *China International Strategy Review*, *3*(1), 154-176.

Černič, J. L. (2008). Corporate responsibility for human rights: A critical analysis of the OECD guidelines for multinational enterprises. *Hanse Law Review*, *3*(1), 71-101.

Chan, A., & Siu, K. (2010). Analyzing exploitation: The mechanisms underpinning low wages and excessive overtime in Chinese export factories. *Critical Asian Studies*, 42(2), 167-190.

Chan, C. K. C. (2014). Constrained labour agency and the changing regulatory regime in China. *Development and Change*, 45(4), 685-709.

Chand, A. (2012). Global supply chains in the South Pacific region: A study of Fiji's garment industry. Nova Science Publications.

Chen, C., Perry, P., Yang, Y., & Yang, C. (2017). Decent work in the Chinese apparel industry: Comparative analysis of blue-collar and white-collar garment workers. *Sustainability*, *9*(8), 1344.

Chen, F. (2007). Individual rights and collective rights: Labor's predicament in China. *Communist and Post-Communist Studies*, 40(1), 59-79.

Chen, T. C., & Hsu, C. H. (2018). Double-speaking human rights: Analyzing human rights conception in Chinese politics (1989–2015). *Journal of Contemporary China*, *27*(112), 534-553.

Chen, Y. (2019). China's challenge to the international human rights regime. *New York University Journal of International Law and Politics*, *51*(4), 1179-1222.

China Labor Watch. (2011). Investigation of Two Clothing and Apparel Factories in China: Excessive Overtime, Student Workers, and Exploitative Wage Systems. Retrieved April 12, 2022, from https://3on4k646b3jq16ewqw1ikcel-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/20111129-final.pdf

China Labour Bulletin. (2022). Reimagining Workers' Rights in China. Retrieved May 26, 2022, from https://www.clb.org.hk/sites/default/files/CLB_Reimagining_Workers_Rights_in_China_March_2022.pdf

China Textile University, & Harvard Center of Textile and Apparel Research. (1999). The Development of the China Apparel Industry.

Chowdhury, M., Ahmed, R., & Yasmin, M. (2014). Prospects and Problems of RMG Industry: A study on Bangladesh. *Prospects*, *5*(7), 103-118.

Clean Clothes Campaign. (n. d.). Rana Plaza: a man-made disaster that shook the world. Retrieved March 1, 2022, from https://archive.cleanclothes.org/ua/2013/rana-plaza

Colovic, G. (2014). Ergonomics in the garment industry. WPI Publishing.

Columbia University. (1995). Timeline of Chinese History and Dynasties. Retrieved March 1, 2022, from http://afe.easia.columbia.edu/timelines/china_timeline.htm

Cooke, F. L., & He, Q. (2010). Corporate social responsibility and HRM in China: a study of textile and apparel enterprises. *Asia pacific business review*, *16*(3), 355-376.

Council on Foreign Relations. (2021). GLOBAL GOVERNANCE MONITOR: Human Rights. Retrieved April 14, 2022, from https://www.cfr.org/global-governance-monitor/#!/human-rights

Cousin, G. (2011). Rethinking the concept of 'western'. *Higher Education Research & Development*, *30*(5), 585-594.

Dahlsrud, A. (2006). How corporate social responsibility is defined: An analysis of 37 definitions. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 15(1), 1-13.

Deitelhoff, N., & Wolf, K. D. (2013). Business and human rights: How corporate norm violators become norm entrepreneurs. *The persistent power of human rights: From commitment to compliance*, 222-238.

Dembour, M. (2010). What Are Human Rights? Four Schools of Thought. *Human Rights Quarterly, 32* (1), 1-20.

Dickson, M. A. & Zhang, L. (2004). Supplier—retailer relationships in China's distribution channel for foreign brand apparel. *Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management*, 8(2), 201–220.

Diller, J. M. (2002). ILO Tripartite Declaration of principles concerning multinational enterprises and social policy. *International Legal Materials*, *41*(1), 184-201.

Dingding, C. (2009). China's participation in the international human rights regime: A state identity perspective. *Chinese Journal of International Politics*, *2*(3), 399-419.

Distelhorst, G., & Locke, R. (2019). Labour standards in Asian export factories: Does compliance pay? Retrieved March 21, 2022, from https://voxdev.org/topic/firms-trade/labour-standards-asian-export-factories-does-compliance-pay

Estlund, C. (2017). A New Deal for China's Workers?. Harvard University Press.

Fair Wear Foundation. (n.d.). Fwf Gender Fact Sheet – China. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://api.fairwear.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/3.-China-Gender-Fact-Sheet.pdf

Fan, L. (2021). The forming of e-platform-driven flexible specialisation: How e-commerce platforms have changed China's garment industry supply chains and labour relations. *China Perspectives*, (1), 29-37.

Fernandez-Stark, K., Frederick, S. and Gereffi, G. (2011). The Apparel Global Value Chain: Economic Upgrading and Workforce Development. In G. Gereffi, K. Fernandez-Stark and P. Psilos (eds.), *Skills for Upgrading: Workforce Development and Global Value Chains in Developing Countries* (pp. 75-131). Duke Center on Globalization, Governance and Competitveness.

International Federation for Human Rights. (2013). China's Workers are calling for change What role

should brands play? (No. 607a). Retrieved May 8, 2022, from https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CESCR/Shared%20Documents/CHN/INT_CESCR_CSS_CHN_169 61_E.pdf

Finnegan, C. (2020). The Uyghur Minority in China: A Case Study of Cultural Genocide, Minority Rights and the Insufficiency of the International Legal Framework in Preventing State-Imposed Extinction. *Laws*, *9*(1), 1-20.

Frenkel, S. J. (2001). Globalization, athletic footwear commodity chains and employment relations in China. *Organization studies*, *22*(4), 531-562.

Hafner-Burton, E. M., & Tsutsui, K. (2005). Human rights in a globalizing world: The paradox of empty promises. *American journal of sociology*, *110*(5), 1373-1411.

Hart, R. A. (2004). The economics of overtime working. Cambridge University Press.

Hasan, M., & Shi, Y. (2017). Corporate Social Responsibility in Garment Industry Supply Chain. *Archives of Business Research*, *5*(7), 12-29.

van der Heijden, P. F. (n.d.). International Right to Strike Under Stress. Retrieved April 10, 2022, from https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/rechtsgeleerdheid/instituut-voorpubliekrecht/sociaal-recht/international-right-to-strike-under-stress 1372942440-1.pdf

Hemphill, T. A., & White, G. O. (2018). Multinational Enterprises, Employee Safety and the Socially Responsible Supply Chain: The Case of Bangladesh and the Apparel Industry. *Business and Society Review*, 123(3), 489-528.

Henderson, J., Appelbaum, R. P., & Ho, S. Y. (2013). Globalization with Chinese characteristics: Externalization, dynamics and transformations. *Development and Change*, 44(6), 1221-1253.

Hoi Yee, R. K. (2006). Impact of Reforms on the Labour System in China. *Policy and Society*, 25(1), 157-177.

Hopgood, S. (2014). Challenges to the global human rights regime: Are human rights still an effective language for social change. *SUR-Int'l J. on Hum Rts.*, 20, 67-76.

Hornby, L. (2019, February 24). China defends Uighur internment camps as part of global terrorism fight. *Financial Times*. Retrieved March 4, 2022, from https://search-proquestcom.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/docview/2134606518?accountid=27871

Human Rights Watch. (2022a). China's Global Threat to Human Rights. Retrieved April 29, 2022, from https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2020/country-chapters/global

Human Rights Watch. (2022b). China: Events of 2021. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2022/country-chapters/china-and-tibet#:~:text=An%20April%202021%20report%20by,%2C%20torture%2C%20and%20cultural%20pers ecution.

IBISWorld. (2021). Global Biggest Industries by Employment in 2021. Retrieved March 9, 2022, from https://www.ibisworld.com/global/industry-trends/biggest-industries-by-employment/

ILO. (2017a). Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social

Policy. Retrieved March 11, 2022, from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/---emp_ent/---multi/documents/publication/wcms_094386.pdf

ILO. (2017b). C087 - Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention, 1948 (No. 87). Retrieved April 21, 2022, from

https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:11310:0::NO:11310:P11310_INSTRUMENT_ID:312232:NO

ILO. (2017c). C098 - Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention, 1949 (No. 98). Retrieved April 21, 2022, from

https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:11310:0::NO:11310:P11310_INSTRUMENT_ID:312243:NO

ILO. (2022). The Rana Plaza Accident and its aftermath. Retrieved March 1, 2022, from https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/geip/WCMS_614394/lang--en/index.htm

Jacobs, B. W., & Singhal, V. R. (2017). The effect of the Rana Plaza disaster on shareholder wealth of retailers: Implications for sourcing strategies and supply chain governance. *Journal of Operations Management*, 49, 52-66.

Kane, G. (2015). Facts on China's Garment Industry. Retrieved March 5, 2022, from https://archive.cleanclothes.org/resources/publications/factsheets/china-factsheet-february-2015.pdf

Karan, P. P. (2004). The non-western world: Environment, development and human rights. Routledge.

Karlsson Schaffer, J. (2013). Legitimacy, global governance and human rights institutions: Inverting the puzzle. In A. Follesdal, J. Karlsson Schaffer & G. Ulfstein (Eds.), *The legitimacy of international human rights regimes: Legal, political and philosophical perspectives* (pp. 212-242). Cambridge University Press.

Karlsson Schaffer, J., Follesdal, A., & Ulfstein, G. (2013). International human rights and the challenge of legitimacy. In A. Follesdal, J. Karlsson Schaffer & G. Ulfstein (Eds.), *The legitimacy of international human rights regimes: Legal, political and philosophical perspectives* (pp. 1-31). Cambridge University Press.

Kelly, A. (2020, July 23). 'Virtually entire' fashion industry complicit in Uighur forced labour, say rights groups. *The Guardian*. Retrieved March 4, 2022, from https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2020/jul/23/virtually-entire-fashion-industry-complicit-in-uighur-forced-labour-say-rights-groups-china

Khan, M., Lockhart, J., & Bathurst, R. (2021). The institutional analysis of CSR: Learnings from an emerging country. *Emerging Markets Review*, *46*, 100752.

Knutsen, H. M. (2004). Industrial development in buyer-driven networks: the garment industry in Vietnam and Sri Lanka. *Journal of Economic Geography*, 4(5), 545-564.

Kollbrunner, T. (2021). Toiling away for Shein: Looking behind the shiny façade of the Chinese "ultrafast fashion" giant. Retrieved April 12, 2022, from https://stories.publiceye.ch/en/shein/

Kuo, K. (Host). (2021, September 30). How the Chinese state handles labor unrest, with Manfred

Elfstrom [Audio podcast episode]. In *Sinica*. Supchina. Retrieved April 29, 2022, from https://supchina.com/podcast/how-the-chinese-state-handles-labor-unrest-with-manfred-elfstrom/

Labour Behind the Label. (2017). Working hours. Retrieved March 5, 2022, from https://labourbehindthelabel.org/working-hours/

Lee, H. C. B., Cruz, J. M., & Shankar, R. (2018). Corporate social responsibility (CSR) issues in supply chain competition: should greenwashing be regulated?. *Decision Sciences*, 49(6), 1088-1115.

Library of Congress. (n.d.). *Fashion Industry: A Resource Guide*. Retrieved March 9, 2022, from https://guides.loc.gov/fashion-industry/introduction

Lim, A., & Tsutsui, K. (2012). Globalization and commitment in corporate social responsibility: Cross-national analyses of institutional and political-economy effects. *American Sociological Review*, 77(1), 69-98

Linfei, Z., & Qingliang, G. (2009). Corporate social responsibility in china apparel industry. *World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology*, *27*, 2009.

Locke, R. M. (2013). *The promise and limits of private power: Promoting labor standards in a global economy*. Cambridge University Press.

Lu, J. Y., & Castka, P. (2009). Corporate social responsibility in Malaysia—experts' views and perspectives. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 16(3), 146-154.

Lund-Thomsen, P., Nadvi, K., Chan, A., Khara, N., & Xue, H. (2012). Labour in global value chains: Work conditions in football manufacturing in China, India and Pakistan. *Development and Change*, 43(6), 1211-1237.

Ma, Y. (2021a). China's share of global apparel export value in selected years between 2000 and 2020. Retrieved March 3, 2022, from https://www.statista.com/statistics/1204141/china-share-of-global-clothing-exports/

Ma, Y. (2021b). Apparel industry in China - statistics & facts. Retrieved March 3, 2022, from https://www.statista.com/topics/7494/apparel-industry-in-china/#dossierKeyfigures

Mahbub, N., Garshasbi, M., Kabir, G., & Hasin, A. A. (2021). Productivity modeling of apparel industry using Hierarchical Evidential Reasoning. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 282, 125298.

Mamic, I. (2017). *Implementing codes of conduct: How businesses manage social performance in global supply chains*. Routledge.

Mantilla, G. (2009). Emerging international human rights norms for transnational corporations. *Global Governance*, *15*, 279.

Mezzadri, A. (2016). *The sweatshop regime: Labouring bodies, exploitation, and garments made in India*. Cambridge University Press.

Miklós, A. (2019). Exploiting injustice in mutually beneficial market exchange: The case of sweatshop labor. *Journal of business ethics*, *156*(1), 59-69.

Morshed, M. M. (2007). A study on labour rights implementation in readymade garment (RMG)

industry in Bangladesh: Bridging the gap between theory and practice. (master's thesis). Retrieved March 1, 2022, from

https://ro.uow.edu.au/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://scholar.google.com/&httpsredir=1 &article=1039&context=theses

Munro, J. (2011). The relationship between the origins and regime design of the ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights (AICHR). *The International Journal of Human Rights*, 15(8), 1185-1214.

MVO Nederland. (2022). Wetgeving rondom due diligence. Retrieved June 1, 2022, from https://www.mvorisicochecker.nl/nl/wetgeving-rondom-due-diligence

Nadvi, K. (2008). Global standards, global governance and the organization of global value chains. *Journal of economic geography*, 8(3), 323-343.

Narayanasamy, T., & Benjamin, S. (2016). This Way to Dystopia: Exposing UNIQLO's abuse of Chinese garment workers. Retrieved March 6, 2022, from https://waronwant.org/sites/default/files/WoW_uniqlo%20report%202016.pdf

Ngai, P. (2005). Global production, company codes of conduct, and labor conditions in China: A case study of two factories. *The China Journal*, (54), 101-113.

Nguyen, G. N., Mani, V., Kha M, K., & Papadopoulos, T. (2021). Supply chain social responsibility in labour-intensive industries: a practitioner's perspective. *Production Planning & Control*, 1-20.

Nickel, J. (2014). Human Rights. In Zalta, E. N. (Ed.), *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/rights-human/

OECD. (2011). OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises. OECD Publishing.

OHCHR. (2021). Special Representative of the Secretary-General on human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises. Retrieved March 11, 2022, from https://www.ohchr.org/en/issues/business/pages/srsgtranscorpindex.aspx

Partnership for Sustainable Textiles. (2022). Partnership Profile. Retrieved March 11, 2022, from https://www.textilbuendnis.com/en/portrait-textilbuendnis/

Passakonjaras, S. (2012). Thailand's outward foreign direct investment: the case of the garment industry. *ASEAN Economic Bulletin*, 101-115.

Pollis, A., & Schwab, P. Human Rights: A Western Construct with Limited Applicability. Praeger.

Powell, B. (2014). Out of poverty: Sweatshops in the global economy. Cambridge University Press.

Pringle, T. (2001). The Path of Globalization: Implications for Chinese Workers. Retrieved May 17 2022, from https://www.amrc.org.hk/content/path-globalisation-implications-chinese-workers

Raham, M., & Moazzem, K.G. (2017). The Legacy of Rana Plaza: Improving Labour and Social Standards in Bangladesh's Apparel Industry. In Hira, A., & Benson-Rea, M. (Eds.), *Governing corporate social responsibility in the apparel industry after Rana Plaza* (pp. 81-109). Palgrave Macmillan.

Rahim, M. M. (2017). Improving social responsibility in RMG industries through a new governance

approach in laws. Journal of Business Ethics, 143(4), 807-826.

Rauturier, S. (2018). What is Fast Fashion?. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://goodonyou.eco/what-is-fast-fashion/

Regilme, S. (2014). The social science of human rights: the need for a 'second image reversed'?. *Third World Quarterly*, *35*(8), 1390-1405.

Regilme, S. (2020). Human rights and humanitarian interventions in the international arena. In D. Berg-Schlosser, B. Badie & L. Morlino (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Political Science* (pp. 1462-1479). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781529714333.n89

Reny, M. E. (2021). Autocracies and the control of societal organizations. *Government and Opposition*, *56*(1), 39-58.

Rodríguez-Garavito, C. A. (2005). Global governance and labor rights: Codes of conduct and anti-sweatshop struggles in global apparel factories in Mexico and Guatemala. *Politics & Society*, *33*(2), 203-333.

Ross, R. J. (2006). A Tale of Two Factories: Successful Resistance to Sweatshops and the Limits of Firefighting. *Labor Studies Journal*, *30*(4), 65-85.

Roth, S., Valentinov, V., Heidingsfelder, M., & Pérez-Valls, M. (2020). CSR beyond economy and society: a post-capitalist approach. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 165(3), 411-423.

Ruggie, J. G., Caroline, R. E. E. S., & Davis, R. (2021). Ten years after: from UN Guiding Principles to multi-fiduciary obligations. *Business and Human Rights Journal*, *6*(2), 179-197.

Sevastik, P. (2015). Freedom of Expression and Opinion in the People's Republic of China and the Internet. *Scandinavian Studies in Law, 60,* 253-274.

Shepherd, L. (2021). China Prohibits Excessive Overtime Work. Retrieved March 6, 2022, from https://www.shrm.org/resourcesandtools/hr-topics/global-hr/pages/china-prohibits-excessive-overtime-work.aspx

Smyth, R., Qian, X., Nielsen, I., & Kaempfer, I. (2013). Working hours in supply chain Chinese and Thai factories: Evidence from the Fair Labor Association's 'Soccer Project'. *British Journal of Industrial Relations*, *51*(2), 382-408.

So, A. Y. (2010). Post-socialist state, transnational corporations, and the battle for labor rights in China at the turn of the 21st century. *Development and Society*, 39(1), 97-117.

Social Economic Council. (2022). Assessment framework. Retrieved April 13, 2022, from https://www.imvoconvenanten.nl/-/media/imvo/files/kleding/assessment-framework-agt.pdf?la=en&hash=91063B51F3AD2AB9324ADFECB3208A82

State Council Information Office of the People's Republic of China. (2019). Seeking Happiness for People: 70 Years of Progress on Human Rights in China [White paper]. Retrieved April 20, 2022, from http://english.www.gov.cn/archive/whitepaper/201909/22/content_WS5d87752fc6d0bcf8c4c13d32 .html

Statista. (2021). Leading exporting countries of apparel worldwide by value in 2020. Retrieved March

3, 2022, from https://www.statista.com/statistics/1198302/apparel-leading-exporters-worldwide-by-value/

Sukwadi, R., Wee, H. M., & Yang, C. C. (2013). Supply chain performance based on the lean—agile operations and supplier—firm partnership: An empirical study on the garment industry in Indonesia. *Journal of Small Business Management*, *51*(2), 297-311.

Taplin, I. (2014). Who is to blame? A re-examination of fast fashion after the 2013 factory disaster in Bangladesh. *Critical perspectives on international business*, 10(1/2), 72-83.

Taylor, B., & Li, Q. (2007). Is the ACFTU a union and does it matter?. *Journal of Industrial Relations*, 49(5), 701-715.

Terra, C. (2022). Voorstel voor Europese due diligence wet gepubliceerd: Dit zijn de belangrijkste punten. Retrieved June 1, 2022, from https://fashionunited.nl/nieuws/business/voorstel-voor-europese-due-diligence-wet-gepubliceerd-dit-zijn-de-belangrijkste-punten/2022022352768

Tsoi, J. (2010). Stakeholders' perceptions and future scenarios to improve corporate social responsibility in Hong Kong and Mainland China. *Journal of business ethics*, *91*(3), 391-404.

Tusalem, R. F. (2015). Democracies, autocracies, and political stability. *International Social Science Review*, *90*(1), 1-40.

United Nations. (2011). Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights. Retrieved April 12, 2022, from

https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/publications/guidingprinciplesbusinesshr_en.pdf

United Nations. (n.d.). The Foundation of International Human Rights Law. Retrieved March 9, 2022, from https://www.un.org/en/about-us/udhr/foundation-of-international-human-rights-law

United States Department of State. (2021). Forced Labor in China's Xinjiang Region. Retrieved March 3, 2022, from https://www.state.gov/forced-labor-in-chinas-xinjiang-region/

United States Fashion Industry Association. (2021). About the fashion industry. Retrieved March 9, 2022, from https://www.usfashionindustry.com/about/about-the-fashion-industry

Verité. (2012). For Workers' Benefit: Solving Overtime Problems in Chinese Factories [White paper]. Retrieved March 5, 2022, from

https://ecommons.cornell.edu/bitstream/handle/1813/101990/V_2012_Workers_Benefits_Solving_ Overtime_WP_China.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

Vilaça, J. (2021). Fashion industry statistics; the 4th biggest sector is way more than just about clothing. Retrieved March 9, 2022, from https://fashinnovation.nyc/fashion-industry-statistics/

Waltz, S. (2002). Reclaiming and rebuilding the history of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. *Third World Quarterly*, 23(3), 437-448.

Wang, J. (2013). *Institutional Change and the Development of Industrial Clusters in China: Case Studies from the Textile and Clothing Industry*. World Scientific.

Wells, D. (2007). Too weak for the job: Corporate codes of conduct, non-governmental organizations

and the regulation of international labour standards. Global Social Policy, 7(1), 51-74.

Whelan, D. J., & Donnelly, J. (2007). The West, economic and social rights, and the global human rights regime: setting the record straight. *Human Rights Quarterly*, 29(4), 908-949.

Wolf, C. (2018). The Deadliest Garment Industry Disaster in History, Five Years Later. Retrieved March 2, 2022, from https://www.gq.com/story/rana-plaza-disaster-five-years-later#:~:text=Five%20years%20ago%2C%20on%20April,history%20of%20the%20garment%20industry.

World Trade Organization. (2021). World Trade Statistical Review 2021. Retrieved April 6, 2022, from https://www.wto.org/english/res_e/statis_e/wts2021_e/wts2021_e.pdf

Xu, V. X., Cave, D., Leibold, J., Munro, K., & Ruser, N. (2020). Uyghurs for sale. Retrieved March 4, 2022, from https://www.aspi.org.au/report/uyghurs-sale

Yunlong, L. (2014). The Development Path for Human Rights with Chinese Characteristics. *Human Rights*, 1, 6-9.

Zha, W. (2018). 8 dingen die je moet weten over de huidige stand van het Bangladesh Akkoord. Retrieved February 28, 2022, from https://fashionunited.nl/nieuws/business/8-dingen-die-je-moetweten-over-de-huidige-stand-van-het-bangladesh-akkoord/2018122440901